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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
The directors present their annual report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2021. 
 
DIVIDENDS 
Ordinary dividends were paid amounting to €2,000,000 (2020 - €Nil). The directors do not recommend the 
payment of a further dividend.  
 
GOING CONCERN 
The financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis. 
 
The directors have considered the factors that impact the group and the company's future development, 
performance and cash flows and financial position along with the group and the company's current liquidity 
in forming their opinion on the going concern basis. 
 
The group and the company are expected to continue to generate positive cash flows for the foreseeable 
future. On the basis of the directors' assessment of the financial position, the company's directors consider 
it appropriate to continue to prepare the financial concern on the going concern basis. 
 
IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
 
The worldwide spread of Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in significant volatility, uncertainty and 
economic disruption. Authorities around the world have taken unprecedented measures such as travel 
restrictions, quarantines, temporary business closures.  
 
In the last two years the things changed, the vaccination improved the situation, and each country took its 
own actions/measures related to COVID. As the situation improved some actions may be expected to 
continue to result in impact on business activities and economic uncertainty and volatility, which may have 
an impact on the Company business conditions. 
 
Up to date, the Covid-19 pandemic has not had a material negative impact on the financial results of the 
Company. Any potential future impact on the business is closely monitored, as the situation can change at 
any time. 
 
We continued to operate in a “hybrid model” (in the UK and overseas) working mainly from home but also 
starting to come back to the offices in accordance with the local administrative guidelines. 
 
We have ensured that all employees have access to appropriate IT systems so they can adequately perform 
their functions and make sure the business continues relatively uninterrupted. 
 
We continued to maintain close relationships with our customers and our business has seen an additional 
demand as the COVID-19 situation brought new opportunities in the telecom and other IT industry, due to 
increased demand for cloud, automation and digital services. 
  
The liquidity of the group will be adequate to fund its operations for the next 12 months.  
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
Details of future developments can be found in the Strategic Report on page 6. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
There are no significant events since the balance sheet date. 
 
DIRECTORS 
The directors set out below have held office during the whole of this year from 1 January 2021 to the date 
of this report unless otherwise stated. 
 
R M Rusu 
Ramneet Singh Rekhi (appointed 8 December 2021) 
Dr. Satinder Singh Rekhi  
Sartaj Singh Rekhi (appointed 20 December 2021) 
 
 

 
 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
The objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains strong credit ratings and 
capital ratios. This will ensure that the business is correctly supported and shareholder value is maximised. 
 
Details of risk management policies used by the group can be found in note 14 to the financial statements. 
 
POLICY AND PRACTICE ON PAYMENT OF CREDITORS 
The group’s policy is to settle supplier accounts within 40 days of the invoice date. 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
BDO LLP, in accordance with section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, have expressed their willingness to 
continue in office as auditor. 
 
DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR 
Each person who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirm that so far as the Director is 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the 
Directors have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make 
themselves aware of all relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of 
that information. 
 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of S418 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  

 
DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY 
As permitted by the Articles of Association, each of the Directors has the benefit of an indemnity, which is 
a qualifying third-party indemnity as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity 
was in force throughout the tenure of each Director during the last financial year, and is currently in force. 
The Company also purchased and maintained throughout the financial year Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance in respect of itself and its Directors.  
 
 
 
 

Approved by the board on 9th of February 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
………………………………………….. 
R M Rusu  
Director 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
STRATEGIC REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
The purpose of the strategic report is to inform members of the company and help them assess how the 
directors have performed their duty under s172 (duty to promote success of the company). 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
The groups's principal activity is product engineering services to companies in telecom sector. In the last 
year, the group has increased its capabilities in the digital space, targeting organisations from different 
sectors and helping them digitalise their operations and customer relationships. 
 

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS 
The results for the year are set out on page 11.  
 
The Group has seen an increase in turnover in 2021 of 27% together with an increase in the gross profit 
margin from 35.4% to 37%. The increase in turnover has resulted in an increase in profit before tax to 
nearly €2.5m from €1.5m in 2020 and a net profit before tax percentage of 11.4% (2020 : 8.6%). 
Administration costs increased by almost €1.1m which was primarily made up of €781k of increased 
administration salaries to support the increased workload. Although trading conditions remain difficult in 
a highly competitive market the directors are confident of continued profitability. The directors believe 
adequate resources are available to take advantage of business opportunities and consider, in the current 
economic climate, the Group’s state of affairs to be satisfactory. 
 
The Group operates geographically through subsidiaries in Romania, Poland, Moldova, Malaysia,  
Philippines and Switzerland. The Polish subsidiary returned a profit of €267k compared to €213k in 2020. 
The Romanian subsidiary had another successful year in 2021 due to continuing to grow its client base and 
increasing turnover to 3rd parties from €12.5m in 2020 to €16.4m in 2021 with a resulting net profit of 
€1.4m compared to €661k of 2020. The Philippines and Malaysian subsidiaries currently operate at low 
levels in respect of providing services to customers outside the Group but continue to support the UK parent. 
In 2021 the Moldovan subsidiary continued to only provide services to other fellow subsidiaries and the 
parent undertaking and R Systems Computaris Switzerland Sarl continued to supply services to fellow 
Romanian subsidiary, R Systems Computaris Europe SRL, which obviously have been eliminated on 
consolidation. 
 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
Risk management is integrated into the process of planning and performance measurement and involves 
members of management of R Systems International Limited, the parent company. The principal risks 
identified including, currency, market, credit (including customer concentration) and liquidity are disclosed 
in Note 14. 
 
Following the UK’s departure from the European Union (“Brexit”) the company had previously considered 
the potential impact on the business and analyzed the “worst case” scenario of a hard deal Brexit and the 
company is still of the opinion that the ongoing impact will not be significant due to the fact that very few 
of the Group’s economic activities are carried out in the UK. For the software services delivered by the 
group subsidiaries (Poland, Romania, Moldova) to UK, the fiscal treatment is likely to remain unchanged. 
Some changes might apply to taxes related to payments of dividends from subsidiaries (Romania and 
Poland) to the UK. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 

 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
The Directors consider that the forthcoming financial year will continue to present challenging trading 
conditions with increased competition and potentially tighter margins. Nevertheless, there are good 
prospects for the Group and the aim is to continue to implement the management policies which have been 
introduced in recent years and which have assisted in successfully overcoming the difficulties and 
uncertainties in the market place.  
 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
The Directors monitor the group’s performance by reviewing revenue and profit on project by project and 
overall country basis. The revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out on page 11. 
The Directors monitor the current order book and potential pipeline to plan for the future resource 
requirements of the Group. 
 
 

Approved by the board on 9th of February 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

………………………………… 

R M Rusu  
Director 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law 
the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law 
the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.  In 
preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors: 
 
 Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 
 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 State whether they have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in 

conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume 

the Group and Company will continue in business. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
 

 
 

Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent 
Company’s affairs as at December 31, 2021 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted 
international accounting standards; 

• the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK 
adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006. 

 
We have audited the financial statements of R Systems Computaris International Limited (the ‘Parent 
Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended December 31, 2021 which comprise the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and 
parent company statements of financial position, the consolidated and parent company statement of changes 
in equity, the consolidated and parent company statement of cash flows, and the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards 
and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Parent 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (continued) 
 

 

 
Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report and Financial Statements other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course 
of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

 the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements. 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or 
the Directors’ report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

Responsibilities of Directors 
 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (continued) 
 

 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below: 
 

- Enquiries of management regarding the compliance with laws and regulations; the detection and 
response to the risk of fraud and any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and the 
controls in place to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; 
and 

 
- Obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework in which the company operates. 

The key laws considered are accounting standards and the Companies Act 2006. We have 
corroborated our enquiries through review of Board minutes. 

 
- We have responded to risks identified by performing procedures including the following: 

Enquiry of in-house management legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation 
and claims; and 
Review of financial statements disclosures and testing to supporting documentation. 

 
- We have considered the risk of fraud through revenue recognition by: 

Testing on sample basis for each stream of revenue appropriate supporting documents such 
customer orders, acceptances, invoices and bank payments;  

 
- We have also considered the risk of fraud through management override of controls by: 

Testing on a sample basis the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; and 
Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of 
potential bias. 

 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed 
and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (continued) 
 

 

 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
Arbinder Chatwal (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Southampton, UK 
9th of February 2022 
 
 
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 
OC305127). 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 

                                                         Notes    31.12.2021 
       

31.12.2020 
              € € 
   
Revenue                                                                      3 21,927,297  17,279,375 
   
Cost of sales (13,812,454) (11,157,486) 
    ─────────────   ───────────── 
GROSS PROFIT 8,114,843   6,121,889 
   
Other operating income                                             124,746       19,664 
Administrative expenses (5,700,303)  (4,611,946) 
    ─────────────  ───────────── 
OPERATING PROFIT                                        4 2,539,286   1,529,607 
   
Finance income – interest income                              7                 334         1,428 
 
Finance costs                                                              8           (47,012)         (44,774) 
       ──────────    ────────── 
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2,492,608 1,486,261 
   
Income tax expense                                                     9 (493,247)   (317,760) 
       ──────────   ────────── 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,999,361     1,168,501 
       ══════════   ══════════ 
 
 
 
All results derive from continuing operations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 
 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,999,361 1,168,501 
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)   
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2,473 (107,230) 
 ────────── ────────── 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, 
NET OF INCOME TAX 2,473 (107,230) 
   
 ────────── ────────── 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2,001,834 1,061,271 
 ══════════ ══════════ 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
                                                        Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
ASSETS   

NON CURRENT ASSETS   
Property, plant and equipment                             11 1,039,038 406,609 
Intangible assets                                                   12 6,827 6,022 
Right-of-use assets                                               24 1,869,637 869,522 
Deferred tax assets                                               22 123,254 135,037 
      ──────────       ────────── 
 3,038,756 1,417,190 
      ──────────       ────────── 
   
   
   

CURRENT ASSETS   
Inventories                                                           16 20,230 5,261 
Tax recoverable 67,805 56,775 
Trade and other receivables                                 17 5,805,155 3,331,134 
Prepayments                                                         18 277,838 222,506 
Cash and cash equivalents                                   19 3,679,310 5,684,452 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
 9,850,338 9,300,128 

   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL ASSETS 12,889,094 10,717,318 
   ═════════════    ═════════════ 
   

EQUITY   
ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES   

Issued share capital                                             20 747 747 
Other Reserves                                                    21 837,560 567,093 
Retained profits 5,958,551 6,227,184 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL EQUITY 6,796,858 6,795,024 

 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   
        Deferred tax                                                        22 3,009 4,582 
        Lease liabilities                                                   25 1,400,707 635,140 
   ─────────────   ───────────── 
 1,403,716 639,722 
   ─────────────   ───────────── 
CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Deferred income 1,398,170 860,465 
Tax payables 314,651 155,859 
Trade and other payables                                        23 2,422,026 1,963,843 
Lease liabilities                                                       25 553,673 302,405 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
 4,688,520 3,282,572 

   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12,889,094 10,717,318 
   ═════════════    ═════════════ 
 
Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 9th of February 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 
 
…………………………………………. 
R M Rusu, Director 
 

Company registration number: 06000234 
 

The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
                                                       Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
ASSETS   
NON CURRENT ASSETS   

Investments                                                        13 1,321,437 1,321,437 
Other receivables                                               17 371,061 - 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
    1,692,498      1,321,437 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 

CURRENT ASSETS   
Trade and other receivables                               17 1,291,892 704,927 
Prepayments                                                       18 116,910 100,552 
Cash and cash equivalents                                 19 1,064,303 3,449,218 
   ────────────     ──────────── 
 2,473,105 4,254,697 

   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL ASSETS 4,165,603 5,576,134 
   ═════════════    ═════════════ 
   

EQUITY   
ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES   

Issued share capital                                           20 747 747 
Other Reserves                                                  21 168 168 
Retained profits 2,775,614 4,382,172 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL EQUITY 2,776,529 4,383,087 

        
─────────────    ───────────── 

CURRENT LIABILITIES   
Deferred income 897,968 683,279 
Tax payables 91,172 54,400 
Trade and other payables                                       23 399,934 455,368 
   ─────────────    ───────────── 
 1,389,074 1,193,047 

   ─────────────    ───────────── 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,165,603 5,576,134 
   ═════════════    ═════════════ 
 
 

 
The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 of €393,442  
(2020 : profit of €1,315,380) 
 
Approved by the Board and authorised for issued on 9th of February 2022 and signed on its behalf by 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 …………………………………………… 
R M Rusu, Director 
 

Company registration number: 06000234 
 
 
 

The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

                         
  31.12.2021 

                          
  31.12.2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES               €               € 
Profit for the year 1,999,361 1,168,501 

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE TO PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS   
Finance income               (334)            (1,428) 
Finance costs            47,012            44,774 

       ──────────        ────────── 
 2,046,039 1,211,847 
NON-CASH ADJUSTMENTS   

Depreciation property, plant & equipment 248,152 161,208 
Depreciation of rights-of-use assets 453,882 373,863 
Amortisation of other intangible non-current assets 16,328 17,505 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 12,426 2,134 
Loss on termination of lease 1,527 - 
Recognition of deferred tax asset/liability (net) 9,480 (95,897) 
IFRS16 rent concessions (18,637) (17,328) 

       ──────────       ────────── 
 723,158 441,485 
           ──────────        ────────── 

CASH FLOWS BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL  2,769,197 1,653,332 
INCREASE IN WORKING CAPITAL   
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (14,969) 7,420 
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (2,474,021) 1,181,144 
Increase in prepayments (55,332) (27,646) 
Increase in trade and other payables 173,726 466,260 
Increase in deferred income 537,705 339,867 
Increase in accruals 284,457 102,778 
Increase in tax payable 483,767 413,657 

       ──────────      ────────── 
 (1,064,667) 2,483,480 
       ──────────      ────────── 
CASH FROM OPERATIONS 1,704,530 4,136,812 

Income taxes paid (336,005) (322,218) 
       ──────────      ────────── 
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,368,525 3,814,594 

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (903,544) (275,715) 
Payments to acquire intangible assets (17,019) (19,686) 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 5,407 931 
Interest received, classified as investing                 334              1,428 

       ──────────        ────────── 
 (914,822) (293,042) 
       ──────────       ────────── 

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
      Interest paid      (47,012)    (44,774) 
      Repayment of lease liabilities    (422,469)  (345,841) 
      Dividend paid (2,000,000)              - 
     ─────────    ───────── 
 (2,469,481)  (390,615) 
     ─────────    ───────── 
NET CASH FLOWS (2,015,778) 3,130,937 
     Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 2021   5,684,452 2,611,993 
     Net foreign exchange difference        10,636    (58,478) 
    ──────────   ────────── 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021  3,679,310 5,684,452 
    ══════════   ══════════ 

 
The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
    31.12.2021    31.12.2020 
 € € 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Total operating Profit 393,442 1,315,380 
 
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE TO PROFIT FROM 
OPERATIONS 

  

Interest income (9,897) (1,130) 
Dividend income - (1,003,635) 

      ──────────      ────────── 
 383,545 310,615 
NON-CASH ADJUSTMENTS   

Deferred tax movement - 13,686 
     ──────────     ────────── 
   
   
CASH FLOWS BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL 383,545 324,301 

   
INCREASE IN WORKING CAPITAL   

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (441,111) 748,927 
Increase in prepayments (16,358) (19,326) 
Decrease in trade and other payables (13,835) (107,522) 
Increase in deferred income 214,689 491,426 
Decrease in accruals (41,599) (215,019) 
Increase in tax payable 91,616 54,400 

     ──────────     ────────── 
 (206,598) 952,886 
     ──────────     ────────── 
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 176,947 1,277,187 

Income taxes paid (54,844) - 
     ──────────     ────────── 
NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

122,103 1,277,187 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Loans to related parties (600,000) - 
Proceeds from loans to related party 83,085 - 
Interest received, classified as investing 9,897 1,130 
Dividends received - 1,003,635 

     ──────────     ────────── 
Net cash (used)/generated from investing activities (507,018) 1,004,765 
     ──────────     ────────── 

 
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Dividend paid to parent company (2,000,000) - 
     ──────────     ────────── 

Net cash used in financing activities (2,000,000) - 
     ──────────     ────────── 

 
NET CASH FLOWS  (2,384,915) 2,281,952 

   
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 2021 3,449,218 1,167,266 

     ──────────     ────────── 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 1,064,303 3,449,218 
     ══════════     ══════════ 

 
 
 

The notes on pages 20 to 50 form part of these financial statements. 
 
 

Page 19 



R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
1. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS 
 

R Systems Computaris International Limited is a private company limited by shares incorporated in 
the United Kingdom under the companies Act 2006 and registered in England & Wales. 
 
The address of the registered office is Swan House, 9 Queens Road, Brentwood, Essex, CM14 4HE 
United Kingdom. 
 

Basis of preparation 
The Group's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
The group’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out in note 2. 
 
Going concern 
The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading 
performance, show that the group should be able to operate within the level of its current cash 
reserves and as such have prepared the accounts on a going concern basis. 
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s performance is described in the Strategic 
Report/Director Report. The Board of Directors are fully aware of the potential challenges and 
opportunities in the economy and are taking appropriate strategic actions to protect the interest of 
stakeholders within R Systems Computaris Group’s business.  
 
The Board of Directors have therefore prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis 
and the financial statements do not include the adjustments that would be necessary if the Group and 
Parent Company was unable to continue as a going concern. 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 Basis of consolidation 
 The results of operations of subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated financial 

statements as from the date of acquisition, which is the date on which control of the acquired 
subsidiary is effectively transferred to the buyer. The results of operations of subsidiary undertakings 
disposed of are included in the consolidated income statement until the date of disposal which is the 
date on which the parent ceases to have control of the subsidiary undertaking. Intragroup balances 
and intragroup transactions and resulting unrealised profits are eliminated in full. Unrealised losses 
resulting from intragroup transactions are also eliminated unless cost can be recovered. 

  
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether the price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement purposes in these financial statements is determined 
on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Revenue recognition 
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources: 
 
- Client software solution 
- Maintenance and support 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a 
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. 
 
Client software solution 
The Group undertakes the provision and installation of various real time software products in the 
communication industry. These are contracted on a fixed-price or time and material based contracts. 
Such services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time since they are bespoke 
to customer’s requirements. The services cannot be separated into distinct performance obligations. 
Revenue for time and material based contract is recognised based on time incurred for providing the 
services. Revenue for fixed-price contract is recognised for these services based on the stage of 
completion of the contract, using the input method. The Directors have assessed that the stage of 
completion determined as the proportion of the total time expected to provide the product that has 
elapsed at the end of the reporting period is an appropriate measure of progress towards complete 
satisfaction of these performance obligations under IFRS 15.  
 
Maintenance and support 
Maintenance and support revenue is made up of fixed payments of certain levels for support made 
available for customers. This is normally a single performance obligation which is consumed by 
customer as it is provided. The maintenance and support revenue is therefore generally recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the contract. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is accrued on a time basis and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset's net carrying amount. 
 
Interest expense recognition 
Expense is recognised as interest accrues, using the effective interest method, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial liability. 
 

Foreign currency exchange 
The Group’s financial statements are prepared in Euros which is also the parent company’s functional 
currency. The exchange rate used in retranslating Pounds Sterling and American Dollar assets and 
liabilities at the financial position date was 0.898 (2020 – 0.898) and 1.134 (2020 – 1.226) 
respectively.  
 
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group are recorded at the rates 
of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each statement of financial position date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing on the statement of financial position date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at 
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Foreign currency exchange (continued) 
Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in net profit or loss for the period, except for 
exchange differences arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes in fair value 
are recognised directly in equity. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's overseas operations are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date. Income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group's translation 
reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which 
the operation is disposed of. 
 
Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised 
in profit or loss except for items that are recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
income. 
 

Current tax  
 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
 

Deferred tax  
 

Deferred tax is provided in respect of temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences 
reverse, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

 
Property, plant and equipment 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or production cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method, on the following basis: 
 
  Leasehold property improvements       1 - 6 years 
                Property, Plant and equipment             2 - 5 years 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Intangible assets 
 

Non-internally generated intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capitalised at cost.  
 

The carrying value of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis for events or 
changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 

Intangible assets are stated at cost or fair value on recognition less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment in value. 
 

Amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost or valuation of intangible assets over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 

                                Software, licences etc;       1 - 3 years 
      Intellectual Property        3 years 
      Customer Contract        Over the period of respective customer contract 
  

Leases 
The Group as a lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, 
small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease 
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
assets are consumed. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable; 

 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index 
or rate at the commencement date; 

 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 

options; and 
 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease. 
 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect 
the lease payments made. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Leases (continued) 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever: 

 The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount 
rate is used).  

 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of 
the modification. 

 
The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented. 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial 
direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore 
the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms 
and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that 
the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless 
those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement 
date of the lease. 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy (not part of 
this Appendix). 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease 
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other 
operating expenses’ in profit or loss (see Note 24). 

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has 
not used this practical expedient.  For contracts that contain a lease component and one or more 
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Leases (continued) 

The Company has opted for the practical expedient under IFRS 16 Para 46A read with Para 46B 
which provides lessee an option not to assess COVID-19-related rent concession as a lease 
modification. The expedient initially allowed for COVID-19-related rent concessions to payments 
originally due on or before June 30, 2021 has been extended to June 30, 2022 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 

Costs comprise direct materials, and where applicable, purchase cost, cost of direct material and 
labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity but 
excluding borrowing costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition and are determined on a first in first out basis. 
 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
Government grants 
Government grants Government grants received on capital expenditure are generally deducted in 
arriving at the carrying amount of the asset purchased. Grants for revenue expenditure are netted 
against the cost incurred by the Group. Where retention of a government grant is dependent on the 
Group satisfying certain criteria, it is initially recognised as deferred income. When the criteria for 
retention have been satisfied, the deferred income balance is released to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income or netted against the asset purchased. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of financial position includes cash in hand and at bank 
and short-term deposits with original maturity period of 3 months or less. For the purpose of the 
consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at bank and 
short-term deposits. Restricted cash represents deposits which are subject to a fixed charge and held 
as security for specific purpose. 
 
Financial instruments  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets  
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

 
Derecognition  
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss.  
 
Financial liabilities  
 

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify 
for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee 
contracts issued by the Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set 
out below.  
 
Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost 
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 
(ii) held‑for‑trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability. 

 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Offsetting of financial instruments  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 
 
Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of tax effects. 

 
Legal and statutory reserve 
The legal and statutory reserves are classified as equity. The legal and regulatory reserves are created 
and adjusted based on profit by transfer from retained earnings according to the local applicable laws 
and statutory regulations in the subsidiary jurisdictions. 

 
Impairment 
 

Financial assets 
 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and accrued 
income. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 
 

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and accrued income. The expected 
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
(i) Significant increase in credit risk 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward‑looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward‑looking information considered 
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from 
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think‑tanks and other 
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations. 
 
(ii) Definition of default 
The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 120 days past due 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate. 
 
(iii) Credit‑impaired financial assets 
A financial asset is credit‑impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.  
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Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 
(iv) Write‑off policy 
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when 
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may 
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 
(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given 
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 
forward‑looking information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented 
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date. 
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
Non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. 
  

The recoverable amount of an asset or its cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time 
value of money and risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”). 
 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experiences, management expertise and 
other contributing factors, the results which form the basis of making judgements about the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities that may not be readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Anticipated cost to complete revenue-generating projects 
Project profitability is estimated at a project’s inception based on the agreed contractual value and 
budgeted total costs. Profitability is then reviewed and reassessed on a regular basis by management, 
with adjustments made to budgeted costs if necessary.  Amendments to estimated costs to complete 
a project can impact the amount of profit recognised in a given period.  
 
Leases 
The Group has considers all the extension-options under the commercial contract for determining the 
lease-term which forms the basis for the measurement of right-of-use asset and the corresponding 
lease-liability.  
 
Critical accounting judgements 
There are no judgements that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

  
Changes in accounting policies 
 
a) New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted from 1 January 2021  
 
One new standard impacting the Group that has been adopted in the annual financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2021:  
 
• COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendments to IFRS 16).  

 

b) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective  
 

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been 
issued by the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group has decided not 
to adopt early.  
 

The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2022:  
 

• Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);  
• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);  
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 
and IAS 41); and  
• References to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3).  
 
The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2023:  
 
• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2);  
• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8); and  
• Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments 
to IAS 12).  
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

b) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective  
 
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, which clarify the criteria used to determine 
whether liabilities are classified as current or non-current. These amendments clarify that current 
or non-current classification is based on whether an entity has a right at the end of the reporting 
period to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. The 
amendments also clarify that ‘settlement’ includes the transfer of cash, goods, services, or equity 
instruments unless the obligation to transfer equity instruments arises from a conversion feature 
classified as an equity instrument separately from the liability component of a compound financial 
instrument. The amendments were originally effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022. However, in May 2020, the effective date was deferred to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.  
 
In response to feedback and enquiries from stakeholders, in December 2020, the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued a Tentative Agenda Decision, analysing the applicability 
of the amendments to three scenarios. However, given the comments received and concerns raised 
on some aspects of the amendments, in April 2021, IFRIC decided not to finalise the agenda 
decision and referred the matter to the IASB. In its June 2021 meeting, the IASB tentatively decided 
to amend the requirements of IAS 1 with respect to the classification of liabilities subject to 
conditions and disclosure of information about such conditions and to defer the effective date of 
the 2020 amendment by at least one year.  
 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments.  
The Group will assess the impact of the final amendments to IAS 1 on classification of its liabilities 
once the those are issued by the IASB. The Group does not believe that the amendments to IAS 1, 
in their present form, will have a significant impact on the classification of its liabilities, as the 
conversion feature in its convertible debt instruments is classified as an equity instrument and 
therefore, does not affect the classification of its convertible debt as a non-current liability.  

 
Other  
The Group does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but not yet effective, to have 
a material impact on the group.  
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3. REVENUE 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 
   
Rendering of services    21,927,297 17,279,375 

   ═════════════       ══════════════ 
 

The group derives revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services in 
the following major income streams. 
 
 

Maintenance & Support          4,299,202        4,309,085 
Consultancy & Fixed Price Projects        17,628,095 12,970,290 

      ─────────────      ───────────── 

 21,927,297 17,279,375 
   ═════════════  ════════════ 

  
4. OPERATING PROFIT 
 

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) the following: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                248,152             161,208 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets                453,882             373,863 
Amortisation of intangible assets                  16,328               17,505 
IFRS16 rent concessions                (18,637)             (17,328) 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets                 12,426                 2,658 
Net foreign currency differences                23,910   168,650

    ═════════    ═════════ 
Included in cost of sales:   
Employee benefits expense 9,115,037         6,791,770 

   ═════════════      ═════════════ 
Included in administrative expenses:   
Employee benefits expense  3,077,005  2,296,391
Depreciation and amortisation 718,360 552,576
Net foreign currency exchange 23,910 168,650

 ────────── ────────── 
 3,819,275 3,017,617
 ══════════ ══════════ 

 

Auditor’s remuneration   
Fees Payable to Group auditors   
Audit of Financial Statements 23,891 17,484
Audit related services 27,904 28,322
Non-audit services - -
 ───────────── ─────────────
 51,795 45,806
 ═════════════ ═════════════
Fees payable to Associates of Group Auditors for the audit of the 
company’s subsidiaries  
Audit of Financial Statements 13,707 16,635
Audit related services 22,205 24,146
Non-audit services - -
     ─────────────     ───────────── 
 35,912 40,781

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
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5. EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Wages and salaries 11,644,062 8,698,562 
Social security costs 547,980 389,599 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
 12,192,042 9,088,161 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

 
The average monthly number of employees during the year was made up as follows: 
 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 No. No. 
Administration and management                                                        6 4 
Production 340 244 

 ─────── ─────── 
 346 248 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

 
Key management personnel compensation 
Remuneration for directors included in staff costs above comprised: 
 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 
Short-term employee benefits 210,316 194,221 

 ══════════ ══════════ 
 

6. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Short-term employee benefits 210,316 194,221 

 ══════════ ══════════ 

 
7. FINANCE INCOME – INTEREST INCOME 
 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Interest earned on bank deposits 334 1,428 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

 
 

8. FINANCE COSTS 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 3,308 3,416 
Interest on right-of-use assets 43,704 41,358 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
 47,012 44,774 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
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9. INCOME TAX 
 

Components of income tax expense 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Income tax expense   
Current income tax charge 483,847 402,919 
(Over)/Under provision in respect of prior years (80) 10,738 
 ────────── ────────── 
 483,767 413,657 
Deferred tax   
Current deferred tax credit 9,309 (47,905) 
(Over)/Under provision in respect of prior years 171 (47,992) 
 ────────── ────────── 

 9,480 (95,897) 
 ────────── ────────── 

Income tax expense reported in income statement 493,247 317,760 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

Reconciliation of income tax charge to accounting profit 
   31.12.2021  31.12.2020 
 € € 

 
Profit before tax 2,492,608 1,486,261 
  

══════════  
══════════ 

 
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 19% (31.12.2020 - 19%) 473,595 282,390 
Tax effect from (over)/under provisions in prior periods (80) 10,738 
Tax effect of deferred tax under/(over) provision in prior periods 171    (47,992) 
Tax effect of rates in other jurisdictions 35,672 32,504 
Tax effect of expired losses 13,103 - 
Income not subject to income tax (84,097) (1) 
Tax effect of change in tax rates 11,597 - 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses  51,107 75,298 
Temporary differences on recognition of income & expenses 9,024 (22,415) 
Other relief      (15,233) (12,762) 
Tax effect of losses brought forward offset                                        (1,612) - 

 ────────── ────────── 
Tax expense using effective rate 493,247 317,760 

 ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 

10.      PROFIT OF PARENT COMPANY 
 

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of the parent    
company is not presented as part of these financial statements. The parent’s profit for the financial 
year was €393,442 (2020: €1,315,380). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33  



R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Group  
 

At 31 December 2021  
Leasehold  

Improvements 
 Plant and    
equipment      Total  

  € € € 
Cost   
At 1 January 2021  57,336 1,038,221 1,095,557 
Additions  359,876 543,668 903,544 
Disposals   (39,239) (80,204) (119,443) 
Foreign currency exchange differences  (2,192) (6,603) (8,795) 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2021  375,781 1,495,082 1,870,863 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
Depreciation   
At 1 January 2021  (40,762) (648,186) (688,948) 
Charge for period  (20,427) (227,725) (248,152) 
Elimination on disposals   26,303 75,307 101,610 
Foreign currency exchange differences  5 3,660 3,665 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2021  (34,881) (796,944) (831,825) 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
Net book value   
At 1 January 2021  16,574 390,035 406,609 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
At 31 December 2021  340,900 698,138 1,039,038 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 

Group  
 

At 31 December 2020  
Leasehold  

Improvements 
Plant and 
equipment       Total  

  € € € 
Cost   
At 1 January 2020  59,193 867,389 926,582 
Additions  - 275,715 275,715 
Disposals   - (68,577) (68,577) 
Foreign currency exchange differences  (1,857) (36,306) (38,163) 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2020  57,336 1,038,221 1,095,557 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
Depreciation   
At 1 January 2020  (31,294) (588,039) (619,333) 
Charge for period  (10,811) (150,397) (161,208) 
Elimination on disposals   - 65,913 65,913 
Foreign currency exchange differences  1,343 24,337 25,680 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2020 

 (40,762) (648,186) (688,948) 
  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

Net book value   
At 1 January 2020  27,899 279,350 307,249 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
At 31 December 2020  16,574 390,035 406,609 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
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   R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
    NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
    FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 

 

 
12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 
Group 
 
At 31 December 2021  Software 

Customer 
Contract/ 

Intellectual  
Property  Total  

  £ £ £ 
Cost   
At 1 January 2021  122,245 567,382 689,627 
Additions  17,019 - 17,019 
Disposals   (28,951) - (28,951) 
Foreign currency exchange differences  3,512 - 3,512 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2021  113,825 567,382 681,207 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
Amortisation   
At 1 January 2021  (116,223) (567,382) (683,605) 
Charge for period  (16,328) - (16,328) 
Elimination on disposals   28,951 - 28,951 
Foreign currency exchange differences  (3,398) - (3,398) 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2021  (106,998) (567,382) (674,380) 

)  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
Net book value   
At 1 January 2021  6,022 - 6,022 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
At 31 December 2021  6,827 - 6,827 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 

 
Group 
 
At 31 December 2020  Software 

Customer 
Contract/ 

Intellectual  
Property  Total  

  £ £ £ 
Cost   
At 1 January 2020  170,917 567,382 738,299 
Additions  19,686 - 19,686 
Disposals   (59,426) - (59,426) 
Foreign currency exchange differences  (8,932) - (8,932) 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2020  122,245 567,382 689,627 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
Amortisation   
At 1 January 2020  (166,460) (567,382) (733,842) 
Charge for period  (17,505) - (17,505) 
Elimination on disposals   59,025 - 59,025 
Foreign currency exchange differences  8,717 - 8,717 

          ──────────         ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December 2020  (116,223) (567,382) (683,605) 

)  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
Net book value   
At 1 January 2020  4,457 - 4,457 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
At 31 December 2020  6,022 - 6,022 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
13.      INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 

 
Shares in Group undertakings 
    

Subsidiary 
undertakings 

Cost    € 
At 1 January 2021 and     
At 31 December 2021    1,321,437 

    ══════════ 
 
Investments in group undertakings are recorded at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration 
paid. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
14.      FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
 The Group has the following categories of financial instruments at the balance sheet date: 
  

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Financial assets   
Trade and other receivables 5,774,977 3,421,026 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,679,310 5,684,452 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
   

Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables (1,967,275) (1,585,084) 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

 
Company 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Financial assets   
Trade and other receivables 1,661,386 703,639 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,064,303 3,449,218 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
   

Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables (399,934) (455,368) 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

 
Capital risk management 
 
The group aims to manage its overall capital so as to ensure the group continues to operate as a going 
concern, whilst providing an adequate return to shareholders. There are no changes in capital risk 
management since 2017. 
 

The group's capital structure represents the equity attributable to shareholders of the company 
together with cash and cash equivalents as follows: 
 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Cash and short-term deposits (3,679,310) (5,684,452) 
 ───────────── ───────────── 

Net funds (3,679,310) (5,684,452) 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
   

Equity 6,796,858 6,795,024 
 ───────────── ───────────── 

Total capital 6,796,858 6,795,024 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
   

Capital and net funds 3,117,548 1,110,572 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Risk management objectives 
 
The board is charged with the overall responsibility of establishing and monitoring the Group’s risk 
management policies and processes. The Group’s risk management policies and processes are 
determined in order to identify, analyse and monitor the risks that are faced by the Group. All treasury 
transactions are reported to and approved by the Board. The Group does not enter into or trade 
financial instruments for speculative purposes. 
 
The principal risks to which the Group is exposed are market risk including currency risk and interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The principal ways in which the group is exposed to such 
fluctuations are through currency risk. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The group operates in a global industry and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises when 
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is 
not the entity's functional currency. 
 
The board monitors both the level of likely future foreign currency cash flows and forecasts of 
exchange rate movements and manages foreign exchange risk by holding cash balances in Euros. 
 
Quantitative analysis 
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at 
the reporting dates is as follows: 
 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
Current assets $ $ 
US$ – trade and other receivables 708,048 322,990 
US$ – cash and cash equivalents 409,910 2,054,081 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
 1,117,958 2,377,071 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

Current liabilities   
US$ – trade and other payables 360,778 257,679 

 ═══════════ ═══════════ 
 
Currency risk sensitivity analysis 
The company has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the 
income statement and equity of a 10% strengthening or weakening in Euro against all other 
currencies, with all other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only 
outstanding foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and adjusts their translation at the 
balance sheet date for a 10% change in the applicable foreign currency rate. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
Currency risk sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

Under this assumption, with a 10% strengthening or weakening of Euro against all exchange rates, 
profit before tax would have decreased by €5,395 (2020 : €134,543) or increased by €7,301                                  
(2020: €167,981) and equity would have decreased by €382,498 (2020: €446,703) or increased by 
€615,866 (2020: €537,419). 
 
Interest rate risk 
 

The group has very limited exposure to interest rate risk at present as it has no interest bearing 
borrowings. 
 
Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to 
discharge its obligation to the group. 
 
The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy customers. All customers who wish to trade on 
credit are subject to credit verification checks. Customer balances are checked regularly to ensure 
that the risk of exposure to bad debts is minimised. 
 
The following table gives details in respect of revenues generated from the top customer and the top 
5 customers: 
         (Amount in Euro) 

Particulars Year ended 
December 31, 2021 

Year ended 
December 31, 2020 

Revenue from top customer                   9,056,083                   7,515,502 
Revenue from top 5 customers 16,680,065                 13,691,562 
No of Customer account for 
more than 10% of the revenue 

 
3 

 
                        3 

 
Further, there is 2 customers that had more than 10% of the total amount receivable from customers 
as at December 31, 2021 and 2 customers that had more than 10% of the total amount receivable 
from trade customers as at December 31, 2020. 
 
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables and other financial assets is 
represented by their carrying amount. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The group has given responsibility of liquidity risk management to the board 
who have formulated liquidity management tools to service this requirement. 
 

Management of liquidity risk is achieved by monitoring budgets and forecasts and actual cash flows. 
In addition, the Group benefits from strong cash flow from its normal trading activities. 
 
At the balance sheet date the Group had no bank loans and borrowings or finance lease liabilities. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Fair values 
  

 The directors consider that the carrying values of all the company’s financial assets and liabilities 
approximate their fair values as at the balance sheet dates. 

 
 The company does not hold any financial instruments that are classified as fair value through profit 

or loss or available for sale and therefore are measured at fair value. 
 
 
15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Subsidiaries - The company has investments in the following subsidiaries : 
 
 
Name Principal activity 

Country of 
incorporation 

     % Interest 
31.12.2020  

  &   31.12.2021 
R Systems Computaris Europe SRL Computer services Romania 100% 
R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo Computer services Poland 100% 
R Systems Computaris Srl Computer services Moldova 100% 
R Systems Computaris Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Computer services Malaysia 100% 
R Systems Computaris Philippines Pte. Ltd. Inc. Computer services Philippines 100% 
R Systems Computaris Switzerland Sarl Computer services Switzerland 100% 
 

           
Sale of services 
During the year R Systems Computaris Philippines Pte. Ltd. Inc. provided consultancy services 
of €16,415 (2020 : €20,144) to R Systems Singapore. At the year-end €Nil (2020 : €Nil) was 
owed by R Systems Singapore to R Systems Computaris Philippines Pte. Ltd. Inc. in respect of 
these consultancy services.  
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 
Purchases of services 
During the year the company incurred consultancy services of €Nil (2020 : €85,734) and reimbursed 
expenses totalling €91,223 (2020 : €5,878) from R Systems International Limited, the parent 
undertaking. At the year-end €Nil (2020 : €Nil) was owed by the company to R Systems International 
Limited in respect of these consultancy and reimbursed expenses.  
 
During the year the company incurred consultancy services of €Nil (2020 : €Nil) and reimbursed 
expenses totalling €Nil (2020 : €1,595) from R Systems Inc, a group company. At the year-end €Nil 
(2020 : €Nil) was owed by the company to R Systems Inc in respect of these consultancy and 
reimbursed expenses.  
 
During the year R Systems Computaris Europe SRL incurred consultancy services of  €994,859 
(2020 : €799,964) and reimbursed expenses of  €1,503 (2020 : €3,136) from R Systems International 
Ltd, a group company. At the year-end €207,286 (2020 : €239,164) was owed by R Systems 
Computaris Europe SRL to R Systems International Ltd in respect of these consultancy services 
including foreign exchange variances. 
 
During the year R Systems Computaris Europe SRL incurred consultancy services of €1,560,190 
(2020 : €1,462,653) and reimbursed expenses totalling €38,544 (2020 : €Nil) from R Systems Inc, a 
group company. At the year-end €318,891 (2020 : €205,842) was owed by R Systems Computaris 
Europe SRL to R Systems Inc in respect of these consultancy services and expenses including foreign 
exchange variances.  
 
During the year R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo incurred consultancy services of €Nil             
(2020 : €6,206) from R Systems International Ltd, a group company. At the year-end €Nil (2020 : 
€Nil) was owed by R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo to R Systems International Ltd in respect 
of these consultancy services including foreign exchange variances.  
 
During the year R Systems Computaris Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. incurred consultancy services of  €3767 
(2020 : €114,548) from R Systems Consulting Services (M) Sdn. Bhd, a group company. At the 
year-end €Nil (2020 : €Nil) was owed by R Systems Computaris Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. to R Systems 
Consulting Services (M) Sdn. Bhd in respect of these consultancy services including foreign 
exchange variances.   
 
During the year R Systems Computaris Europe SRL incurred consultancy services of  €8,499  
(2020 : €1,713) from PT. R Systems IBIZCS International, a group company. At the year-end  
€Nil (2020 : €1,713) was owed by R Systems Computaris Europe SRL to PT. R Systems IBIZCS 
International in respect of these consultancy services including foreign exchange variances.   
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 
Purchase of services (continued) 
During the year computer consultancy services and related expenses were acquired from the 
subsidiary undertakings as follows: 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

R Systems Computaris Europe SRL 1,449,837 1,120,562 
R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo 745,516 766,493 
R Systems Computaris Srl 173,154 138,284 
R Systems Computaris Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 186,281 89,379 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
 2,554,788 2,114,718 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

 
At the year end the following amounts were due to/(from) the subsidiary undertakings in respect of 
the above services supplied : 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

R Systems Computaris Europe SRL 3,070 278,725 
R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo 89,329 37,739 
R Systems Computaris Srl 15,008 14,220 

 ─────────── ─────────── 
 107,407 330,684 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
The amount due to/(from) the subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand unless otherwise stated. 
 
At the year end the following amounts were accrued in respect in respect of the above services 
supplied by the subsidiary undertakings : 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

R Systems Computaris Europe SRL. 204,654 - 
R Systems Computaris Poland sp zoo - 50,806 
R Systems Computaris Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 17,154 17,592 

 ─────── ─────── 
 221,808 68,398 
 ═══════ ═══════ 

 
Loan to subsidiary 
On the 7 May 2021 the company entered into a loan agreement under normal commercial terms with 
the subsidiary, R Systems Computaris Europe SRL., for a sum of €600,000. The balance of the loan 
owing to the company by R Systems Computaris Europe SRL at the year end was €516,915 (2020 - 
€Nil). Interest of €9,880 (2020 : €Nil) at a rate of 3% was received by the company in the year.  
 
Key management personnel 
The key management personnel are the directors of the company and the remuneration they have 
received during the year is as follows: 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
   
Short-term employee benefits 210,316 194,221 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
16. INVENTORIES 
 

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Consumables (At cost) 20,230 5,261 
 ═════════ ════════ 

 
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Receivable from trade customers 4,706,906 2,715,136 
Other receivables 328,444 267,109 
Other taxes (VAT, payroll) 30,178 90,108 
Accrued income 739,627 258,781 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
 5,805,155 3,331,134 
 ═════════════ ═════════════ 

 
At 31 December 2021, trade and other receivables to the value of €52 (2020 : €13,293) were impaired 
and fully provided for.  

 
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables were as follows: 
 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

At 1 January 13,293 6,415 
Provision for doubtful debts 52 11,706 
Release of provision for doubtful debts (13,391) (4,828) 
Exchange rate variance 98 - 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
At 31 December 52 13,293 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
 
Company 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Receivable from trade customers 842,202 220,854 
Receivable from related parties 251,496 427,699 
Loans to related parties 516,915 - 
Other taxes (VAT, payroll) 1,567 1,288 
Accrued income 50,773 55,086 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
Total trade & other receivables 1,662,953 704,927 
Less: non-current portion – Loans to related parties (371,061) - 

 ───────────── ───────────── 
Current portion 1,291,892 704,927 

 ═════════════ ═════════════ 
 

Amounts receivable from trade customers are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 day 
terms. 
 

At 31 December 2021, trade and other receivables to the value of €Nil (2020 : €Nil) were impaired 
and fully provided for. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
18. PREPAYMENTS 
 

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Current   
Prepaid expenses 277,838 222,506 

 ═════════ ═════════ 
 

Company 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Current   
Prepaid expenses 116,910 100,552 

 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 € € 

Cash on hand 53 362 
Cash at bank 3,142,250 5,269,707 
Short term deposits 537,007 414,383 

 ──────────── ──────────── 
 3,679,310 5,684,452 
 ════════════ ════════════ 

 
Included in cash at bank is restricted funds of €208,264 (2020: €201,937). 
 
Company 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Cash at bank 887,936 3,286,086 
Short term deposits 176,367 163,132 

 ──────────── ──────────── 
 1,064,303 3,449,218 
 ════════════ ════════════ 

 
Included in cash at bank is restricted funds of €Nil (2020: €Nil). 

 
20. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Authorised share capital 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 No. € No. € 

     
Ordinary share capital  106,500 1,193 106,500 1,193 

 ═══════════ ═══════ ═══════════ ═════════ 
Issued share capital 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
 No. € No. € 

Issued and fully paid     
Ordinary share capital  66,500 747 66,500 747 

 ═════════ ═══════ ═════════ ═════════ 
 
All issued share capital is classified as equity. The ordinary shares have a par value of 1p per share 
and are fully paid. These shares carry no right to fixed income or have any preferences or restrictions 
attached to them. 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
21. OTHER RESERVES 

 
Group 
 
31 December 2021 

 
Capital  

Redemption 
Reserve 

 
Legal and 
statutory       
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Total 

 € €          €       € 
    
At 1 January 2021     168           342,032          224,893          567,093 
 
Foreign currency exchange increase 

          
         - 

                      
                    - 

                           
             2,473 

              
             2,473 

Transfer from retained earnings          -           267,994 
 

                     -          267,994 

At 31 December 2021     168           610,026          227,366          837,560 
 

Group 
 
31 December 2020 

 
Capital  

Redemption 
Reserve 

 
Legal and 
statutory       
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Total 

 € € €       € 
    
At 1 January 2020     168           201,858          332,123          534,149 
 
Foreign currency exchange increase 

          
         - 

                      
                    - 

                           
        (107,230) 

              
       (107,230) 

Transfer from retained earnings          -           140,174 
 

                     -          140,174 

At 31 December 2020     168           342,032          224,893          567,093 
 
Nature and purpose of other reserves 
 
Legal and statutory reserve 
The legal and statutory reserves of €610,026 (2020 : €342,032) are according to local applicable laws 
and statutory regulations in the subsidiary jurisdictions of Romania, Moldova and Poland. They are 
created and adjusted based on profit by transfers from retained earnings.  
 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
The translation reserve represents the revaluations of overseas foreign subsidiaries. 
 
Company Capital 

 Redemption 
 Reserve 

31 December 2021 € 
  

At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021     168 
 ═════════ 

 
Company Capital 

 Redemption 
 Reserve 

31 December 2020 € 
  

At 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020     168 
 ═════════ 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

 
22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities: 
 

     Group Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation 

Other 
timing 

differences 
Lease 

Liabilities Tax Losses Total 
 € € € € € 

     Balance at 1 January 2020 - (16,937) 4,701 49,588 37,352 
     Charge to profit or loss 974 108,539 4,590 (18,206) 95,897 
     Foreign currency exchange  (27) (1,482) (208) (1,077) (2,794) 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
     Balance at 1 January 2021 947 90,120 9,083 30,305 130,455 
     Charge to profit or loss 609 14,050 987 (25,126) (9,480) 
     Foreign currency exchange  (8) (957) (119) 354 (730) 

 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
     Balance at 31 December 2021 1,548 103,213 9,951 5,533 120,245 

 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

 
At the balance sheet date, the group has unused tax losses of €30,370 (2020 : €89,533) available for 
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of  
€24,837 (2020 : €59,228) of these losses as it is not considered probable that there will be future 
taxable profits available.  

 
These amounts have been classified in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 
Group 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

 € € 
Deferred tax assets 123,254 135,037 
Deferred tax liabilities (3,009) (4,582) 

 ────────── ────────── 
 120,245 130,455 
 ══════════ ══════════ 
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

Group € € 
Payable to trade suppliers 289,441 346,263 
Payable to related parties 522,206 446,703 
Other payables 269,583 190,530 
Accrued liabilities 886,045 601,588 
Other taxes (VAT, payroll) 454,751 378,759 

──────────── ────────────
2,422,026 1,963,843 
════════════ ════════════

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 
Company € € 
Payable to trade suppliers 5,864 18,537 
Payable to related parties 329,215 330,684 
Other payables 886 208 
Accrued liabilities 63,969 105,568 
Other taxes (VAT, payroll) - 371

────────── ──────────
399,934 455,368 
══════════ ══════════

The average credit period taken on trade payables is 30 days and no interest has been charged on 
the payable balances.  

Page 48 



R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

24. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS

At 31 December 2021 Computer Computer 
Right-of-use assets Buildings Hardware Software Total 

        €     €    €   € 
Cost 
At 1 January 2021 1,332,261 189,039 31,216 1,552,516 
Additions 1,656,372 - - 1,656,372
Disposals (528,591) - - (528,591)
Foreign currency exchange differences (1,751) (3,097) (511) (5,359)

──────────── ──────────── ──────────── ────────────

At 31 December 2021 2,458,291 185,942 30,705 2,674,938
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2021 620,355 50,112 12,527 682,994 
Depreciation 398,392 45,768 9,722 453,882 
Disposals (329,120) - - (329,120)
Foreign currency exchange differences (1,103) (1,090) (262) (2,455)

──────────── ──────────── ──────────── ────────────

At 31 December 2021 688,524 94,790 21,987 805,301
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

Carrying amount 
At 1 January 2021 711,906 138,927 18,689 869,522

════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

At 31 December 2021 1,769,767 91,152 8,718 1,869,637
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

At 31 December 2020 Computer Computer 
Right-of-use assets Buildings Hardware Software Total 

        €     €    €   € 
Cost 
At 1 January 2020 1,024,583 192,362 31,765 1,248,710 
Additions 356,948 - - 356,948
Disposals - - - -
Foreign currency exchange differences (49,270) (3,323) (549) (53,142)

──────────── ──────────── ──────────── ────────────

At 31 December 2020 1,332,261 189,039 31,216 1,552,516
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2020 322,918 3,923 981 327,822 
Depreciation 315,672 46,554 11,637 373,863 
Disposals - - - - 
Foreign currency exchange differences (18,235) (365) (91) (18,691)

──────────── ──────────── ──────────── ────────────

At 31 December 2020 620,355 50,112 12,527 682,994
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

Carrying amount 
At 1 January 2020 701,665 188,439 30,784 920,888

════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════

At 31 December 2020 711,906 138,927 18,689 869,522
════════════ ════════════ ════════════ ════════════
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R SYSTEMS COMPUTARIS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 DECEMBER 2021 
 

24. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS (continued)

The Group leases several assets including buildings, plants, IT equipment and software. The average 
lease term is 5 years (2020: 5 years). Approximately one fifth of the leases for property, plant and 
equipment expired in the current financial year. The expired contracts which were replaced by new 
leases for identical underlying assets resulted in additions to right-of-use assets of €214,860 in 2021 
(2020 : €356,948) which is included in total additions of €1,656,372 (2020 : €356,948).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in note 25.
31.12.2021 31.12.2020 

Amounts recognised in profit and loss        €        € 

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 453,882 373,863 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 43,704 41,358 
Expense relating to short-term leases 57,033 114,905 

At 31 December 2021, the Group is committed to €29,204 (2020 : €33,334) for short-term leases. 

The Group do not have any property leases that contain variable lease payment. 

25. LEASE LIABILITIES
      31.12.2021       31.12.2020 

€ € 
At 1 January 2021/2020 937,545 944,957 
Additions 1,656,372 356,948 
Disposal   (199,471)            - 
Loss on termination 1,527 - 
Interest accrued on lease liability 43,704 41,358 
Payment of lease liability (466,173) (387,200) 
Lease rent concession      (18,637) (17,328) 
Foreign currency exchange differences (487) (1,190)

───── ─────
At 31 December 2021/2020 1,954,380 937,545

═════ ═════
 Maturity analysis 
Year 1 553,673 302,405 
Year 2 533,117 292,618 
Year 3 377,893 237,472 
Year 4 306,780 105,050 
Year 5 182,917 - 

───── ───── 
1,954,380 937,545 
═════ ═════ 

          The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regards to its lease liabilities. Lease 
liabilities are monitored within the Group’s treasury function. 

26. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING

The company’s immediate and ultimate parent undertaking is R Systems International Limited, a 
company registered in India, which owns 100% of the company’s shares.

The largest and smallest group in which the results of the group are consolidated is headed by R
Systems International Limited. The consolidated financial statements of this company are available 
to the public and may be obtained from its registered address, GF-1–A, 6, Devika Tower, Nehru
Place, New Delhi- 110019 India.
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